FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 3/16/2023 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

101811-8

FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
3/15/2023 3:26 PM

No. 82836-3

## COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION 1 OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

WINDCREST OWNERS ASSOCIATION, a Washington non-profit corporation *Petitioner*,

v.

ALLSTATE INSURANCE COMPANY, an Illinois company *Respondent*.

#### PETITION FOR REVIEW

Jim Guse, WSBA No.: 48876
BARKER MARTIN, PS
1500 SW First Avenue, Suite 980
Portland, OR 97201
Telephone: (503) 796-9806
Facsimile: (503) 796-9807
jguse@barkermartin.com
Counsel for Appellant
Windcrest Owners Association

## **

#### A. INTRODUCTION

First party insurance claims in Washington have become akin to the wild west. State and Federal courts continue to produce inconsistent, contradictory, and/or incongruent results. A plaintiff may well receive different results depending on whether it files in State or Federal court, which county it files in, or even which judge is assigned in a particular county. This mix of decisions has resulted in uncertain and unpredictable results.

This matter involves numerous first party insurance issues that routinely arise in Washington. These issues include: actual collapse standards; summary judgment in light of conflicting expert opinions; coverage for wind-driven rain; and application of ensuing loss provisions. All of these issues are in need of further clarity and guidance from Washington's highest court.

#### B. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner Windcrest Owners Association asks this court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review designated in Part C of this petition.

#### C. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Division I filed the opinion on December 12, 2022. A copy of the decision is in the Appendix at pages A1 through 17. Division I granted a Motion to Publish from Respondent on February 13, 2023.

#### D. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Does a trial court properly grant summary judgment in light of conflicting expert opinions on causation?
- 2. Did the court err when it resolved factual disputes as a matter of law instead of allowing the disputes to be resolved by a jury, including whether collapse conditions exist and whether the efficient proximate cause of damage was covered?

- 3. Did the court properly follow Washington's methodology for interpreting and resolving conflicts in insurance provisions?
- 4. Did the court err when it found as a matter of law that coverage was not provided by the "ensuing loss" provision associated with the insurers' cited exclusions?

#### E. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Division I's opinion is generally correct in its recitation of the facts and procedure. App. A at A1-3. However, several points warrant additional emphasis.

Windcrest consists of two buildings, with the same construction, the same alleged construction defects, and the same maintenance. The only significant difference is that one building had more exposure to the weather than the other. The weather-exposed building suffered significant property damage; the other building had little to no damage and was therefore not a part of the insurance claim that is the basis for the underlying lawsuit. CP 190-191.

Despite the same construction and same maintenance in both buildings, Allstate's expert opined that defective construction and maintenance was the efficient proximate cause of damage to Building A. CP 24-25. Windcrest's expert opined that weather, including wind-driven rain was the efficient proximate cause of damage. Nowhere did Allstate ask Windcrest's expert his opinion on the efficient proximate cause of the damage at Windcrest. Despite this, the court rejected Windcrest's expert opinion and found that his opinion on causation somehow contradicted his prior testimony.

With respect to evidence of collapse, Windcrest presented evidence that parts of the building, including wood sheathing, had deteriorated so badly that they either turned into sawdust or completely disappeared. Allstate's expert also testified that the wood "decomposed," and that it deteriorated so badly, it simply "disappears." Despite testimony from both experts on the severity of damage, the court found there was no evidence that parts of the building fell down, fell to pieces, or

caved in. CP 186-188.

The policy requires an "abrupt" collapse. Among the covered causes of collapse is "hidden decay." Windcrest's expert opined that while the damage that led to the collapse may have been gradual, the collapses themselves were "abrupt." "Hidden decay" assumes property has suffered damage before reaching a state of collapse. The court conflated these requirements and found that because the damage leading to collapse was not "abrupt," neither was the collapse abrupt.

Finally, the court's opinion did not include portions of Windcrest's expert's deposition further explaining his testimony which would negate any suggestion his later affidavit was a "sham" as found by the court. Specifically, Windcrest's expert has consistently opined on the cause of damage at Windcrest. His testimony that he did not review how the water got in, i.e. what pathways the water entered the building, had no bearing on his opinion on causation and did not contradict his other testimony or affidavit.

#### F. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE

#### **ACCEPTED**

1. There are conflicting and inconsistent decisions between State and Federal Courts and among State Courts regarding issues germane to this matter. Parties and Practitioners need clarity on first party insurance claims and issues.

In the parties' briefing before Division I, a myriad of insurance cases were discussed, many relating to the treatment of "wind-driven rain" as a covered cause of loss. Windcrest filed its complaint in October of 2019. At least eight different decisions from State and Federal Courts have come out since Windcrest filed its complaint, all discussing various aspects of wind-driven rain coverage. The parties themselves filed multiple supplemental authorities relating to the issues in this case. These cases often provide conflicting reasoning or are interpreted differently by insurers and insureds. This area of law is ripe for further clarification and guidance from Washington's

highest court.

As an example, the insurers contended that "continuous repeated seepage or leakage of water" is not a distinct cause of loss from "wind-driven rain." *Citing Kish v. Insurance Co. of N. Am.*, 125 Wn2d 164, 883 P2d 308 (1994); and *Mercer Place Condominium Ass'n v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co.*, 104 Wn. App 603, 17 P3d 626 (2000). State Farm attempted to distinguish *Sunbreaker Condominium Ass'n v. Travelers Ins. Co.*, 79 Wn. App 368, 901 P2d 1079 (1995), which held that these were in fact distinct perils. State Farm went so far as to say *Sunbreaker* is no longer good law in light of *Wright v. Safeco Ins.*, 124 Wn. App 263, 109 P3d 1 (2004).

Windcrest argued that an all-risk policy that does not exclude damage caused by wind-driven rain covers such damage even when the policy contains exclusions for inadequate construction, wear and tear, rot, and decay. *Sunbreaker*; *Greenlake Condo Ass'n v. Allstate Co.*, No. C14-1860 BJR, 2015 U.S. Dist. Lexis 184729 (W.D. Wash. 2015).

Windcrest also cited numerous cases identifying weather or rain as a separate covered peril. Eagle Harbour Condo Ass'n v. Allstate Ins. Co., No. C15-5312-RBL, 2017 US Dist LEXIS 54761, at \*10-16 (W.D. Wash. Apr. 10, 2017) ("weather is a distinct, separate, and covered fortuitous peril"); Babai v. Allstate Ins. Co., No. C12-1518 JCC, 2013 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 175336, at \*11 (W.D. Wash. Dec. 13, 2013) (policy without effective weather conditions exclusion covers weather); Dally Props., LLC v. Truck Ins. Exch., No. C05-0254L, 2006 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 30623, at \*6 (W.D. Wash. Apr. 5, 2006) ("Rain is a peril that is typically addressed in insurance policies"); Canyon Estates v. Atain Specialty Ins. Co., 2021 WL 1208581 (W.D. Wash. 2021); Mkt. Place N. Condo. Ass'n 12 v. Affiliated FM Ins. Co., No. C17-625 RSM, 2018 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 76724, at \*10 (W.D. Wash. May 7, 2018).

After briefs were submitted to Division I, Allstate provided supplemental authorities consisting of *Hill & Stout*, *PLLC v. Mut. of Enumclaw Ins. Co.*, 200 Wn2d 208, 515 P3d

525 (2022) and Corliss Condo. Owners Ass'n v. Nat'l Sur. Corp., No. C21-0200 TSZ, 20222 U.S. Dist. Lexis 172671 (W.D. Wash. 2022). Windcrest submitted additional authorities consisting of Franssen Condo. Ass'n of Apartment Owners, v. Country Mut. Ins. Company, et al., Case No. 2:21-cv-00295-BJR, 2022 WL 10419015 (W.D. Wash. 2022). The parties believed these cases impacted the issues before Division I.

In addition to these cases, a number of other cases discussing various aspects of first party coverage, including wind-driven rain, have come out during or after these proceedings. See *Ridge at Riverview Homeowner's Association v. Country Casualty Ins. Co.*, 2023 WL 22678 (W.D. Wash. 2023); *Westboro Condo Ass'n v. Country Casualty Ins. Co.*, 2023 WL 157576 (W.D. Wash. 2023); *Gold Creek Condominium v. State Farm Fire & Casualty Co.*, 2022 WL 2398395 (W.D. Wash. 2022); *Outlook West Condo. Ass'n v. RLI Ins. Co.*, 2021 WL 4775113 (W.D. Wash. 2021). All of these cases were issued after Windcrest filed its original action.

A few things are clear based on the proliferation of decisions in this area. It is evident there is a significant public interest in this area as there are numerous individuals and associations that are impacted by weather-related property damage, whose recourse is often solely against their insurer. These policies, almost universally, provide coverage for "weather conditions." Despite this, these insureds have received mixed results and often are deprived of their day in court based on nuanced and complex coverage issues.

It is also evident that insures and attorneys advising will have a difficult time predicting the outcome of their claims based on the numerous and often inconsistent decisions. An insured may only find out whether its claim is valid after spending significant funds (that they often don't have) on experts and attorneys. After years of claim handling and litigation, their action might be dismissed based on a court substituting its opinion for the expert they hired. Further clarity is warranted in this area of law to help guide insureds, who are

often faced with significant repair bills that they have no other way to pay.

2. The trial court's summary judgment, and Division I's affirmation of the same, was improper based on conflicting expert opinions on causation. Division I's opinion is in conflict with decisions of this court as it failed to employ the standards and methodology set by this Court.

As a starting proposition, both State and Federal Courts have routinely held that "the determination of the efficient proximate cause of loss is a question of fact for the fact finder." Hill & Stout, PLLC v. Mut. of Enumclaw Ins. Co., 200 Wn2d 208; , 515 P3d 525 (2022); Vision One, LLC v. Philadelphia Indem. Ins. Co., 174 Wash2d 501. See also Franssen Condo. Ass'n of Apartment Owners, v. Country Mut. Ins. Company, et al., Case No. 2:21-cv-00295-BJR, 2022 WL 10419015 (W.D. Wash. 2022); Greenlake Condo Ass'n v. Allstate Co., No. C14-1860 BJR, 2015 U.S. Dist. Lexis 184729 (W.D. Wash. 2015). "[I]it is only when the facts are undisputed and the inferences

therefrom are plain and incapable of reasonable doubt or difference of opinion that it may be a question of law for the court." *Hill & Stout at 227; citing Graham v. Pub. Emps. Mut. Ins. Co.*, 98 Wash 2d 533, 656 P2d 1077 (1983).

A court substituting its opinion for that of an expert should be carefully scrutinized considering the experience and expertise involved in rendering opinions on causation. A court should only substitute its opinion on causation over a submitted expert when the facts are "undisputed" and the inferences are "incapable of reasonable doubt or difference of opinion."

In the present matter, Division I did not follow the directives of this Court and instead resolved all inferences in favor of the insurer, not the insured.

One of the primary issues in this case (and in many recent cases) is the efficient proximate cause rule and what has now become known as the "inverse proximate cause rule." Citing *Vision One*, this Court recently confirmed that "we have left open the possibility that an insurer may draft policy

language to deny coverage when an excluded peril initiates an unbroken casual chain. Hill & Stout at 226; citing Vision One at 520. "It is perfectly acceptable for insurers to write exclusions that deny coverage when an excluded occurrence initiates the causal chain **and** is itself either the whole proximate cause or the efficient proximate cause of the loss." Id (citing Zhaoyun Xia v. ProBuilders Specialty Ins. Co. RRG, 188 Wn2d 171, 400 P3d 201 (1994) emphasis added).

Court's holding in both *Vision One* and *Hill & Stout*. Courts in Washington have long held that insurers cannot draft around the efficient proximate cause rule. A narrow exception has been recognized when an excluded peril initiates an "unbroken causal chain." Courts after *Vision One* have seemingly ignored the "unbroken causal chain" requirement.

In *Vision One*, the insurer relied on the "sequence of events" language and argued that "defective design" initiated the causal chain. However, the Court noted that the evidence

was that inadequate design and poor installation caused the damage. The court rejected the "causal chain" because "there is no indication the faulty design caused the faulty workmanship." *Vision One* at 522.

As discussed above, courts in Washington have held that wind-driven rain is a separate and distinct peril. It is also evident that the property at Windcrest was damaged by weather-related water intrusion. Allstate repeatedly states that the damage was caused by "inadequate construction and poor maintenance." Just as in *Vision One*, however, this is not an "unbroken chain." Wind-driven rain is a separate and distinct peril. Just as the poor design did not cause the poor workmanship in *Vision One*, any inadequate construction or improper maintenance did not cause wind-driven rain. Division I's conclusion is inconsistent with the guidance provided in *Vision One*.

Further, Hill & Stout indicates it is acceptable for insurers to deny coverage when an excluded occurrence

initiates the causal chain and is itself either the sole proximate cause or the efficient proximate cause of the loss. *Id* at 226 (*citing Xia*, 188 Wash2d at 183; emphasis added). Based on the record before Division I, Allstate could not carry its burden to show that its stated causes were either the sole proximate cause or the efficient proximate cause of the loss. Division I did not rule that that Allstate's stated causes were either the sole proximate cause or the efficient proximate cause of the loss. Division I, and other recent courts, have not followed the principles set forth by this Court in *Vision One* and *Hill & Stout*. Review is necessary to clarify and further establish the standard for these claims.

Division I also did not follow the Court's directive in finding that taking a case from a jury is only warranted "when the facts are undisputed and the inferences therefrom are plain and incapable of reasonable doubt or difference of opinion." *Hill & Stout* at 227.

Division I found that Allstate met the "initiates a

sequence of events" standard for causation. It should not have done so based on facts and inferences that are far beyond doubt or difference of opinion. First and foremost, Allstate's expert did not opine that construction and maintenance "initiated a sequence of events." His testimony on several occasions plainly stated that construction and maintenance caused the loss. According to Division I, "VanDerostyne definitively stated "what caused this was the combination of inadequate and poor maintenance." App. A at A13-14. It also cited the expert "This damage is decay of the wood caused by inadequate maintenance and inadequate construction." App. A at A14. Allstate's expert refused to include water as a causal factor (despite recognition that the damage was water damage):

Q. And are you able to determine what caused this?

A. I believe this is directly below the photos we had before. So it would be the same as what we talked about on the report.

Q. And just to clarify, that is inadequate construction and maintenance and water?

A. Inadequate construction and maintenance. (Van Derostyne deposition, p. 24), (Exhibit 3, attached Donohue Declaration; emphasis added.) (CP 24-25;44)

Division I found that the facts were undisputed and the inferences therefrom were plain and incapable of reasonable doubt or difference of opinion and that Allstate conclusively established that inadequate construction and maintenance "initiated the chain of causation resulting in the loss." Allstate's own expert, however, consistently stated that the "cause" of this loss was inadequate construction and maintenance.

While Allstate attributed the "sequence of events" opinion to its expert, the expert himself consistently testified as the sole cause of loss being inadequate construction and maintenance. In addition to this opinion not supporting the "sequence of events" language, it is problematic for another reason. There are two buildings at Windcrest. Allstate's expert testified that the buildings were constructed and maintained the same. The parties agree that there was no damage in Building B. If improper construction and maintenance was the cause of damage, as testified by Allstate's expert, presumably Building

B would also have damage. It did not. Further, at a minimum, the expert testimony provided by Allstate is internally inconsistent regarding whether "inadequate construction and maintenance" was the sole cause of the loss (as evidenced by the cited testimony) or whether it was a "causal chain initiated by an excluded peril."

Review by this court is warranted for several reasons, including application of the "unbroken chain" language in *Vision One*, application of *Hill & Stout's* directive that the cause must also be the sole proximate cause or the efficient proximate cause, and requiring that lower courts adhere to the requirement that the facts must be undisputed and the inferences therefrom are plain and incapable of reasonable doubt or difference of opinion. Division I failed to follow the standards set forth by this Court.

3. Division I failed to properly cite or analyze the ensuing loss provision in the Allstate policies.

"While coverage may be excluded when a certain peril causes a

loss, a resulting or ensuing loss clause operates to carve out an exception to the policy exclusion." *Vision One*, 276 P.3d at 307. In Division I's opinion, it cites two different ensuing loss provisions:

We will not pay for loss or damage caused by or resulting from any of the following, 3.a through 3.c. But if an excluded cause of loss that is listed in 3.a through 3.c results in a Covered Cause of Loss, we will pay for the loss or damage caused by that Covered Cause of Loss. (App. A at A12).

It proceeds to deny coverage based on the ensuing loss provision, citing this language:

"But if an excluded cause of loss that is listed in 2.d(1) through (7) results in a "specified cause of loss", building glass breakage, or collapse, as provided in the Additional Coverage-Collapse, we will pay for the loss or damage caused by that specified cause of loss, building glass breakage or collapse." (App. A at A16).

Division I found that Windcrest did not establish a "collapse," nor did it establish "water damage" sufficient to trigger an ensuing loss provision. App. A at A16.

Windcrest argued that collapse conditions existed and for those areas that were not in a state of actual collapse, the efficient proximate cause of the damage was wind-driven rain (a distinct and covered peril). Windcrest believes that both collapse, and wind-driven rain damage, are covered by Allstate's policies. Review is warranted to clarify application of ensuing loss provisions, especially in the context of multiple alleged causes of loss, some of which are uncovered and some of which are not.

#### G. CONCLUSION

Windcrest retained an expert, who told them the damage consisted of collapse and wind-driven rain. Windcrest submitted a claim to its insurer, who provided coverage for collapse and wind-driven rain. Allstate denied coverage and Windcrest was forced to sue. As the non-moving party and the insured, it was supposed to receive all inferences in its favor. Instead, the Court rejected its expert opinion, resolved all inferences in favor of the insurer, and dismissed Windcrest's

claim. Windcrest simply wants its day in Court.

In compliance with RAP 18.17(b) and relying on the word count calculated by the word processing software, there are 3,236 words used in this document.