FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
4/28/2023 2:50 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

No. 1018118

(Court of Appeals No. 82836-3)

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

WINDCREST OWNERS ASSOCIATION

Plaintiff/Appellant

v.

STATE FARM AND CASUALTY COMPANY and ALLSTATE INSURANCE COMPLANY

Defendants/Respondents.

RESPONDENT ALLSTATE INSURANCE COMPANY'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Sarah L. Eversole, WSBA No. 36335
WILSON SMITH COCHRAN DICKERSON
1000 Second Avenue, Suite 2050
Seattle, WA 98164
(206)623-4100
(206)623-9273 facsimile
eversole@wscd.com
Of Attorneys for Respondent Allstate Insurance Company

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Petition here involves Division I's opinion resolving this matter on December 12, 2022. *See Windcrest v. Allstate et al.*, No. 82836-3-I (Wash. Ct. App. December 12, 2022). Respondent in this matter is defendant Allstate Insurance Company ("Allstate).

Unlike the Statement of the Case in Windcrest's petition, the recitation of the facts in Division I's opinion is a fair and accurate description of the relevant, supported evidence and policy language at issue.

At issue before Division I was the trial court's summary judgment in favor of Allstate regarding the dismissal of property damage claims made by Windcrest Owner's Association ("Windcrest"). Windcrest's primary argument on appeal was that the collapse provisions of the policies applied because "building components have collapsed and are no longer taking up or filling the space they were intended for," and "were no longer able to support their intended purpose." Windcrest Op. at 6. Allstate argued that the slow deterioration

of parts of the building does not fit within the policy definition of "collapse." *Id*.

Division I applied the rules from Vision One, LLC v. Philadelphia Indem. Ins. Co., 174 Wn.2d 501, 513, 276 P.3d 300 (2012), and Overton v. Consolidated Ins. Co., 145 Wn.2d 417, 428, 38 P.3d 322 (2002), to the interpretation of policy provisions defining "collapse." The Court held that the controlling definition for collapse was the one provided by the insurance policy, not the definition urged by Windcrest's expert, and that Windcrest's expert's testimony regarding collapse and suddenness did not establish the requisite suddenness, or the requisite evidence that the building or parts of the building fell down, fell to pieces or caved in, and did not create a question of material fact as to whether the damage at issue meets the policy criteria for coverage. Op. at 6-10. The Court concluded that because the evidence shows no abrupt or sudden falling down of any part of a building such that it could not be occupied for its intended purpose, the coverage for collapse did not apply. Op. at 17.

The second issue before Division I was Windcrest's alternative argument for coverage. Windcrest argued that because the Allstate policy was an "all-risk" policy, damage allegedly caused by "weather" or "wind-driven rain" was an insured peril because these perils were not specifically excluded. Op. at 10, 13.

Division I, analyzed and applied the controlling authority set forth in Vision One, LLC v. Philadelphia Indem. Ins. Co., 174 Wn.2d 501, 513, 276 P.3d 300 (2012) and the recent opinion in Hill & Stout, PLLC v. Mut. of Enumclaw Ins. Co., 200 Wn.2d 208, 226, 515 P.3d 525, 535 (2022), which featured the same initiating cause lead-in language present in the Allstate policy, which provides no coverage when "an excluded peril initiates an unbroken causal chain." Op. at 11. Division I concluded that since evidence from both Allstate and Windcrest demonstrated that the loss in this matter was initiated by an excluded of loss (inadequate cause construction and maintenance), there was no factual question as to the sequence of events that caused the loss, and therefore no coverage. Op. at 11, 15. Although Windcrest later tried to rebut its own expert's prior conclusions with a declaration from that same expert- the declaration contradicted the expert's earlier testimony and was accompanied by no evidence or explanation. Op. at 8. Applying controlling Washington law, Division I concluded that to the extent this declaration contradicted his deposition testimony, it cannot create a material issue of fact to defeat summary judgment. Op. at 8.

The last issue presented by Windcrest to Division I was Windcrest's argument that the "ensuing" loss language which follows the exclusions in one of the Allstate policies for wear and tear, rust, corrosion, rot, decay, deterioration and infestation- permits coverage, if one of these causes results in a "collapse," and therefore, because Windcrest believes there was a "collapse" it believes there should be coverage. (App Brief, p. 17, 25-26). However, in its opinion, Division I explained that as Windcrest had not demonstrated any "collapse" meeting the criteria set forth in the policy - that the ensuing loss provision does not apply to establish coverage for collapse.

Windcrest now seeks to have further review by this Court. Plaintiff's primary argument as to why its Petition should be accepted, is that there are allegedly "conflicting and inconsistent decisions between State and Federal Courts and among State Courts regarding issues germane to this matter." Windcrest does not actually explain how any of these decisions create a conflict in the law or how they conflict with Division I's opinion in this matter.

Further, the only new *state court* opinion cited by Windcrest is *Hill & Stout, PLLC v. Mut. of Enumclaw Ins. Co.*, 200 Wn.2d 208, 226, 515 P.3d 525, 535 (2022), which was applied by Division I and which is entirely consistent with Division I's opinion. And, each and every one of the "new" federal district court opinions listed, address a specific ambiguity resulting from a Washington Changes policy endorsement, which is not present in the Allstate policies. As the Allstate policies do not have the specific language that creates an issue in each of these cases, these opinions are not

applicable to this matter and do not create any conflict with Division I's opinion or Washington law.

II. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

A. Windcrest Fails to Explain how any State or Federal Court Opinions Conflicts with Division I's Opinion.

Windcrest's Petition lacks all indicia of a serious effort to seek Supreme Court review. Windcrest alleges very generally and without any explanation or support, that there are "conflicting and inconsistent decisions between State and Federal Courts and among State Courts regarding issues germane to this matter." Pet. at 6. Windcrest's petition asserts that there are "[a]t least eight different decisions from State and Federal Courts have come out since Windcrest filed its complaint, all discussing various aspects of wind-driven rain coverage" which "often provide conflicting reasoning or are interpreted differently by insurers and insureds." Pet. at 6. However, Windcrest fails to explain how any of the opinions cited actually conflict with Division I's opinion in this matter. Not a single one of the cases cited by Windcrest apply the law

differently or inconsistently from Division I's opinion in this matter.

1. Division I Correctly Applied Washington Precedent and Found No Coverage When the Only Independent Cause for Damage Was Excluded by the Policy.

Windcrest argues without support that Division I allegedly did not "follow the principles set forth by this Court in *Vision One* and *Hill & Stout*" and that "Review is necessary to clarify and further establish the standard for these claims." Pet. at 15. However, Windcrest does not actually provide any explanation or basis as to why or how Division I's conflicts with any Washington opinion. Nor has Windcrest identified a single case of this Court or the Court of Appeals suggesting that Division I erred.

Windcrest argues inaccurately that Division I's conclusion is "inconsistent with the guidance provided in *Vision One*" because "wind-driven rain is a separate and distinct peril" and it is "evident that the property at Windcrest was damaged by weather-related water intrusion." Therefore, damage caused by "inadequate construction and poor

maintenance," was "not an "unbroken chain" "just like in Vision One." Pet. at 14. This argument is nonsensical and ignores Vision One's opinion that expressly states that notwithstanding the efficient proximate cause rule, an insurer may nevertheless draft policy language to exclude coverage when "an excluded peril initiates an unbroken causal chain." Vision One, 174 Wn.2d at 519.

Division I's opinion is in entirely consistent with *Vision*One as well as Hill & Stout, this Court's opinion which addresses identical policy language and which Division I relies upon heavily in its opinion. As set forth in the opinion, Division I walks through the efficient proximate cause rule, but then addresses the impact of the specific policy language at issue:

On the other hand, "When an <u>excluded peril</u> sets in motion a causal chain that includes covered perils, the efficient proximate cause rule does not mandate exclusion of the loss." "Hill & Stout, 200 Wn.2d at 226 (quoting Vision One, 174 Wn.2d at 519) (emphasis in original). But an insurer may draft policy language to exclude coverage when "an excluded peril initiates an unbroken causal chain." Vision One, 174 Wn.2d at 519.

Op. at 11.

As noted by the Court of Appeals in this matter, the Allstate policy language at issue is identical to the language in the policy at issue in *Hill & Stout*, which excludes coverage when an excluded peril is the initiating cause of the loss:

We will not pay for loss or damage caused by any of the excluded events described below. Loss or damage will be considered to have been caused by an excluded event if the occurrence of that event:

- a. Directly and solely results in loss or damage; or
- b. Initiates a sequence of events that results in loss or damage, regardless of the nature of any intermediate or final event in that sequence.

Op at 12, Policy language at CP 557, 562.

Division I acknowledges that "[t]ypically, the determination of the efficient proximate cause of loss is a question of fact for the fact finder. However, when the facts are undisputed and the inferences therefrom are plain and incapable of reasonable doubt or difference of opinion ... it may be a question of law for the court." Op. at 13, citing *Hill & Stout*, 200 Wn.2d at 227. In this matter, Division I determined that "evidence from both Allstate and Windcrest demonstrates that defective construction and maintenance initiated the chain of

causation resulting in the loss. Even assuming losses resulting from wind-driven rain are covered, the evidence creates no factual questions as to the sequence of events that caused the loss: the faulty construction and maintenance created a pathway for water to enter." Op. at 13.

The Court held in relevant part: "Windcrest does not allege that wind-driven rain independently initiated or caused the loss. Windcrest's own expert agreed that had the building been properly constructed and maintained, there would be no damage from water intrusion. Thus, the loss was excluded from coverage as the defective construction and maintenance were excluded and were the only independent cause for the water damage." Op. at 15.

Windcrest's petition also asserts that the trial court's summary judgment, and Division I's affirmation of the same, was improper based on conflicting expert opinions on causation, and therefore Division I's failure to find questions of fact, fails to "follow the standards and methodology set by this Court." Pet at 11. For example, Windcrest claims that Allstate's

expert opined that inadequate construction and maintenance "caused" the loss but did not specifically opine that they "initiated a sequence of events", or address "water as a causal factor" and therefore the expert's opinion doesn't support the "sequence of events" language in the policy. Pet. at 16-17.

This argument is baseless. As referenced in Division I's opinion, the report from Allstate's expert VanDerostyne stated conclusively that "decay and deterioration occurred over an extended number of years due to 'defective original construction in combination with lack of repairs and/or maintenance.'... VanDerostyne definitively stated 'What caused this was the combination of inadequate construction and poor maintenance.'... In response to further questions, the export elaborated '...Like I said, the inadequate construction and maintenance allowed the water to get into the building." Op. at 13-14. Division I also provided a detailed discussion of the evidence provided by Windcrest's expert who had clearly and unambiguously testified that "if the building was properly constructed, designed and maintained, the building should not have damage from water intrusion." Op. at 14.

Windcrest attempted to rebut this testimony later by providing a subsequent contradictory declaration. However, the Court of Appeals concluded that this declaration failed to raise issue of material fact, because it "consists merely of conclusions that contradict his unambiguous sworn testimony, and therefore, cannot raise an issue of material fact to defeat summary judgment." Op. at 14, citing *Behr v. Anderson*, 18 Wn. App. 2d 341, 364, 491 P.3d 189 (2021). Review is not merited. RAP 13.4(b).

2. The USDC Opinions Relied Upon by Windcrest Address Materially Different Policy Language Not Present in Allstate Policies.

Windcrest's petition states that it submitted to Division I "additional authorities consisting of *Franssen Condo. Ass'n of Apartment Owners, v. Country Mut. Ins. Company, et al.*, Case No. 2:21-cv-00295-BJR, 2022 WL 10419015 (W.D. Wash. 2022)" which it believes "impacted the issues before Division I."

Windcrest does not explain how this opinion impacted any issue before Division I, or why this case serves to highlight any inconsistencies in the law. In fact, this case is entirely The district court in Franssen Condo. Ass'n of irrelevant. Apartment Owners concluded that due to the inclusion of a Washington Amendment endorsement that replaced the policy work" exclusion for "negligent (inadequate construction/maintenance) the policy at issue was "ambiguous" as to whether the exclusion could still be read as including the "initiates a sequence" language in the preamble amendment in the Washington Changes. Because ambiguity was found, the Court therefore read the "initiates a sequence" language out of the policy, which ultimately resulted in coverage pursuant to Vision One. This case, while interesting, is entirely irrelevant in this case because the Washington Amendment endorsement at issue in Franssen Condo, is not present in the Allstate policies.

Windcrest also includes in its petition a list of federal court district opinions that "were issued after Windcrest filed its

original action" including: Ridge at Riverview Homeowner's Association v. Country Casualty Ins. Co., 2023 WL 22678 (W.D. Wash.2023); Westboro Condo Ass'n v. Country Casualty Ins. Co., 2023 WL 157576 (W.D. Wash. 2023); Gold Creek Condominium v. State Farm Fire & Casualty Co., 2022 WL 2398395 (W.D. Wash. 2022); Outlook West Condo. Ass'n v. RLI Ins. Co., 2021 WL 4775113 (W.D. Wash. 2021).

Windcrest once again makes no effort to explain how these cases conflict with Division I's opinion or create a conflict of law that is germane in this matter. A review of these opinions shows that these cases involve the same problematic policy endorsement addressed in *Franssen Condo. Ass'n*. Like the court in *Franssen*, these opinions involved the language of a Washington Changes endorsement which the courts each found ultimately resulted in the removal of the "initiates a sequence" language from the "negligent work" exclusion in the policies at issue. These cases are therefore entirely unavailing or relevant because the Allstate policies do not contain the endorsement language specifically at issue in each of these cases. These

cases therefore do not highlight or create any conflict in the law that is germane to this matter. Review is not merited. RAP 13.4(b).

VI. CONCLUSION

Division I's thoughtful opinion applied this Court's precedent and affirmed the Superior Court's dismissal of Windcrest's claims on summary judgment. Allstate respectfully requests that this Court DENY Windcrest's Petition for Review. RAP 13.4(b).

I certify this Brief of Respondent Allstate Insurance Company contains 2,497 words in compliance with RAP 18.17(b)